
CITY OF HANOVER 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

OCTOBER 4, 2022 – DRAFT MINUTES 
 
Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance: 
Mayor Chris Kauffman called the regular meeting of Tuesday, October 4, 2022, to order at 7:00 p.m. 
Present were Councilors Jim Zajicek, MaryAnn Hallstein, Thomas Dierberger and Mike Amery. Also 
present were City Attorney Jay Squires, City Administrator Jennifer Nash, Public Works Supervisor 
Jason Doboszenski and Accountant Jackie Heinz. Guests present were Nadine Schoen, Greg Zgutowicz, 
Chad Caddy, Rick and Jodi Tappe, Mary Coons, Bob Miller, Steve and Lynn Beise, Matt Herman, Deb 
Gatz, Wright County Sheriff Josh Cassidy and Emily from the Wright County Journal Press. 
 
Approval of Agenda: 
MOTION by Hallstein to approve the agenda, seconded by Zajicek. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Consent Agenda: 
Kauffman tabled item 3c – Approving Ratification of FRA Pension Increase to next meeting. 
MOTION by Amery to table Resolution 10-04-22-91 – Approving Ratification of FRA Pension 
Increase, seconded by Hallstein. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
MOTION by Amery to approve the consent agenda as amended, seconded by Hallstein. 

a. Approve Minutes of September 20, 2022 City Council Work Session Meeting 
b. Approve Claims as Presented: 

 Claims  $     144,303.96 
 Payroll   $       11,939.13 
 P/R taxes & Exp $         4,410.42 
 Other Claims  $         2,894.39 
 Total Claims         $      163,547.90 

c. Resolution 10-04-22-90 – Approving Storage Tank Purchase for PW 
d. Resolution 10-04-22-91 – Donation from Corcoran Lions to the Fire Department 

Motion carried unanimously. 
 

Citizen’s Forum 
Wright County Commissioner Candidate Nadine Schoen 

Schoen thanked council for their time and introduced herself, she grew up in Maple Lake and currently 
lives in St. Michael, married for 29 years and has three children, for 30 years she has owned and operated 
her own business, she served on the St. Michael City Council for 12 years, was on the I94 coalition, 
chamber, planning and zoning and EDA’s.  She has made good relationships at the city, county, state 
and federal level and is looking to make a connection with you and keep good dialogue.  She wants to 
make a positive impact and work for you. 
 
Public Hearing 

None  
 
 
 
 



Unfinished Business 
 Update Regarding Site Improvement Plan for River Inn Expansion 
Squires gave a brief update, council previously tabled the draft site improvement agreement to  provide 
time for River Inn to  have the draft reviewed by legal counsel.  River Inn has retained legal counsel who 
are present tonight and have reviewed the proposed agreement and provided feedback.  They’ve 
requested a number of changes which were incorporated into the draft and the agreement seems to be 
down to one issue.  Some of the changes include a project completion date extended to November 2024 
at River Inn’s request, language on being able to continue to use the outdoor patio.  The one remaining 
discussion point is the provision within the draft agreement that the parking lot must be constructed 
before a certificate of occupancy would be provided for the planned new pavilion.  Squires stated the 
way the agreement is drafted states they must complete the parking areas before they can add additional 
occupancy including any further expansion of outdoor seating which would include the new pavilion.  
River Inn’s counsel has proposed alternate ideas. Squires stated alternate A would allow the use of the 
new pavilion building in the site plan without requirement to pave parking stalls before occupancy, and 
instead permitting temporary condition of the parking stalls in the plan until final contract end of 
November 2024.  Squires stated the engineer has expressed concerns with this option, and the building 
official as well with regards to handicap accessibility requirement for occupancy of the planned new 
building.  Squires stated the second alternate they have would remove financial security provisions 
requiring funding within the letter of credit submitted by River Inn include coverage to allow the city to 
go in and install the parking areas if anything happened and River Inn did not produce the improvements 
required in the site plan.  Squires noted the potential concern with this idea would be removing the City’s 
funding to go in and address the parking if it were not constructed as required in the approved site plan 
and agreement.  He noted there were several projects impacted when the recession hit a few years back 
where communities across the State had to deal with neighborhoods and projects that went bankrupt and 
abandoned projects leaving the City to secure areas and deal with the situation.  Financial security gives 
the City some protection to react if projects don’t proceed as planned. 
 
Hallstein inquired for further clarification on the proposed option to remove financial security held for 
parking improvements.  Squires stated to look at the agreement, paragraph 16 is the security provision, 
five lines down is parking lot, that amount of $108,400 would be taken out under this proposal.  Squires 
stated the ability to build a parking lot if it’s half constructed or something happens would be lost.  Amery 
stated, if we go with option A, there is a nine-month play between occupancy of the building and 
completion of the parking lot.  If at the end of nine months nothing has happened, the City would then 
have $108,400 to go in and pave the lot, Squires stated yes.  Amery inquired what is the advantage to 
the city of option B, Squires stated it’s more in the context of disadvantage.  Staff’s recommendation is 
to retain the $108,400.  Squires stated we don’t have a crystal ball and don’t know how things are going 
to play out in two years.  Squires stated when you draft an agreement, you think of the worst-case 
scenarios that could happen such as considering if there is a recession.  Amery inquired if the advantage 
to River Inn with option B would be they would have $108k not committed to this financial security in 
their pocket instead, Squires stated yes.  Amery stated the goal of the city is to have a paved parking lot, 
it’s much riskier.  Squires stated the City would not have authority to dictate to the Building Official that 
they go outside of State building code requirements, so there may be some improvements required by 
that State code anyway for accessibility and/or other purposes.   
 
Hallstein why these options are now being presented.  Squires stated River Inn offered them as options, 
but staff is recommending the draft agreement as presented that would require paving before occupancy 



of additional service areas including the pavilion and financial security held.  Hallstein stated these are 
alternates offered by River Inn but the Council could choose to go with the draft as presented, Squires 
stated correct.  Kauffman inquired about a timeline from River Inn, his concern is the city allows them 
occupancy of the pavilion and nothing has been done on the property to the north.  Kauffman stated he 
would like to see the temporary parking available before occupancy of the pavilion is granted.  Attorney 
Ryan Carlson, representing River Inn, stated the project is a big undertaking, they are willing to do it 
and just need a little bit of time for the extension.  Carlson stated it would be difficult to move the 
pavilion, over a newly paved parking lot, may get scratched and then pay to fix it up.  Kauffman stated 
in his opinion the parking stalls need to be installed and ready with all improvements except final paving 
before they receive occupancy of the pavilion.  Amery stated that’s option A correct, Kauffman stated 
yes.  Kauffman stated he has paved a large parking lot at his business and let it sit over winter to get the 
heaves and thaw out, and that isn’t a big deal.  If the City has the financial security if they don’t do it, 
we can do it ourselves if we have to.  Carlson stated River Inn plans to move the house and prep this fall.  
Squires stated the proposed agreement allows River Inn flexibility within the term of the agreement to 
complete phases.  Language would be included to ensure there is temporary parking for a maximum of 
nine months if Council chooses to go with this option proposed by River Inn or no later than November 
2024 for full paving, whichever is shorter.  Kauffman stated the situation is just like Big Bore since we 
don’t know what is going to happen with 19 road design yet.  Hallstein asked for clarification if 
everything on the site plan, which includes the parking lot would need to be ready for pavement if 
Council went with the option A proposed by River Inn.  Squires stated the agreement includes that the 
parking lot will be fully constructed, except for the paving.  Hallstein inquired how that language fits 
with building code requirements and accessibility.  Squires noted the business should be aware they will 
also need to work with the building official to meet all building code requirements which may include 
paving of handicap parking stalls and accessible route among other provisions prior to occupancy.   
 
Kauffman inquired if it was an option to pave part of the existing lot for handicap accessible.  DiOrio 
stated a proposed schedule has been given to the attorney, and what we’re talking about isn’t a public 
parking lot, it’s private.  Kauffman stated everyone is aware this is a private parking lot and that the State 
building code still applies.  The building official relayed the paving of handicap stalls to a minimum 
navigable standard including accessible routes from stalls to new improvements are requirements for 
COs of new structures.  DiOrio stated to let the building official determine if they don’t build to code, 
they don’t get the CO.  DiOrio inquired why this is being treated as a public parking lot, Kauffman stated 
it isn’t.   
 
Squires stated we aren’t going to solve what the building code is as that will be the responsibility of the 
building official.  He suggested clarification in the agreement by adding to the end of paragraph nine 
“Developer must meet all pertinent handicap accessibility requirements of applicable code.”  Amery 
stated just to recap, if we go with option A, there is a nine-month reprieve from paving of parking stalls.  
If in nine months the parking lot isn’t complete, we have the security amount to complete it ourselves.  
Squires states that is one option, yes, or by no later than November 2024, which ever is first.   
 
MOTION by Amery to approve River Inn Site Development Agreement with CO allowed prior to 
paving with language as approved by the City Attorney and added to paragraph nine “Developer must 
meet all pertinent handicap accessibility requirements of applicable code,” seconded by Dierberger. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 



New Business 
Recycling Contract Discussion – Republic Services  

Matt Herman stated he is with Republic, formerly Randy’s which was purchased in 2020.  Changes 
began this spring which were challenging.  Herman stated the current contract has been in place for ten 
years and will expire at the end of the year and Republic would very much like to renew that contract.  
Kauffman inquired if they have numbers available.  Herman stated there is a monthly amount and then 
there is a variable commodity component to it which is returned to the city.  The biggest challenge was 
in 2008 when China stopped buying our stuff, everything still gets recycled, it’s just not worth what it 
use to be.  Herman stated the city is in the $3.00 range right now, economics have changed, the renewal 
is $4.60 per month, which is competitive.  Hallstein inquired the length of the new contract.  Herman 
stated that can be discussed, but they’re recommending three years, make a commitment, continue our 
partnership, make sure we’re meeting your expectations.  Herman stated staff suggested possibly seeking 
proposals from other haulers could be an option.  He doesn’t feel there is time for that, if that were 
something the city felt they needed to do.  Republic would be willing to extend the contract one year at 
$4.60 per household per month to give the city the time to consider their options.  Herman stated he 
doesn’t believe the city will find better pricing.  Kauffman stated he’s not seeing the $4.60 in the contract 
included in Council materials. Nash noted the current contract is included in the packet as a new proposed 
contract has not been received.  Herman stated we have a long-standing partnership, would love to have 
a renewal.  Kauffman inquired when the city would need to approve contract language with Republic.  
Nash stated the city would need to receive the proposed contract language and review it first.  Herman 
stated they would remove the commodity adjustment and adjust the pricing; those would be the only two 
changes.   
 
Biren stated she would like to acknowledge Republic staff member Deb Gatz who has helped resolve 
some issues in recent months following transition from Randy’s to Republic.  Biren stated residents 
would call the company number provided and get forwarded to a call center.  Some were told we don’t 
service your area, there is no such address, we can’t help you or you need to contact the city to set it up.  
Kauffman inquired if this involved mostly new construction, Biren stated yes, mostly Rivers Edge, Crow 
River Heights not so much.  Gatz stated when Republic transitioned, it was a merging of software and it 
was new to all of us.  Residents should be able to go through the proper channels and any problems 
should get dealt with by Republic staff.  Gatz stated the homeowner’s association was identifying, once 
she dived into it, she was able to fix the problem.  Herman stated city staff should not be spending that 
much time on problems and Republic staff should instead be resolving issues.  If any issues arise in 
future, City staff should send to Gatz or Herman to resolve.   
 
Zajicek inquired who else in town does recycling. Nash stated no one as the City has a residential contract 
with Republic.  Zajicek inquired why just one recycling contract as there are five other garbage haulers.  
Nash stated she wasn’t here ten years ago when the contract was established, but often time communities 
go with a single hauler for efficiency and to make sure the services are offered. 
 
MOTION by Zajicek to look for a secondary company for recycling, motion dies for lack of a second.   
 
Hallstein stated she is more apt to do a three-year renewal and do an RFP in three years due to the 
economy.  Amery inquired what is the goal tonight, the agenda states a discussion.  Kauffman noted 
Council has had previous discussions from some members stating garbage trucks damage to City roads, 
so this might be a discussion if the City considers allowing more haulers in.  Kauffman stated members 



could call around and ask other cities what they’re paying.  Amery suggested to have more research done 
and then make a decision.  Hallstein inquired when the contract is up, Nash stated at the end of this year.  
Herman stated timing is the issue, he respects the city’s ability to look around however contracts are be 
very different due to things like time when the rate was established, efficiencies if community also 
contracts for garbage, different schedules/frequency for pickups such as weekly versus every other week, 
and other contract differences.  Kauffman suggested a one-year deal could be a possibility and Herman 
agreed.  Kauffman stated to get some other cities information.  Hallstein suggested having things ready 
for the November council meeting.   
 

Public Comment - Chad Kaddy – 532 Emmy Lane 
Kaddy stated he has called the City and spoken with Administrator Nash on the phone regarding his 
neighbor and what to do about long grass.  He expressed concern regarding delay in enforcement versus 
the three days that the public nuisance ordinance gives for turnaround of violation notices.  Kaddy stated 
he has had conversations with Nash regarding his neighbor, the first issue was an unlicensed boat in the 
yard and most recently the grass at the new construction home which wasn’t mowed and hasn’t been 
watered so has died.  Hallstein stated we are a complaint-based system.  Kauffman inquired about 
approaching the neighbor, Kaddy stated he’s had a slight conversation but doesn’t want it to become a 
confrontation.  Kauffman stated it’s not that we don’t follow the ordinances, it’s based on a complaint 
and staff need to respond when time permits.  Nash noted both concerns regarding the unlicensed boat 
in the yard and the long grass have been resolved with the boat now in the garage and the grass now 
mowed following notice letter from the City.  The City is holding an escrow with the builder to resolve 
the death of the new sod and need to establish lawn as is standard practice with new construction.  Nash 
stated part of the challenge is the speed of response the City can produce as growth of the community 
and current workload at City Hall have caused a backlog of items for follow-up including code 
complaints.  Kaddy stated he understands there are only three people in the office.  Nash stated there are 
complaints that have taken longer than a month and she shares Kaddy’s concern about ability to respond 
to resident complaints in a reasonable amount of time.  Kaddy stated he came to the meeting as a 
concerned resident and things are not happening as they are written in City ordinances.  
 
Reports  
Doboszenski 

• Blowing out irrigation systems and shutting down the parks 
• Will be painting the gazebos next week 

Amery 
• Concert in the Park dates have been set 
• Pickle Ball Court at Cardinal is Moving Forward 

Heinz 
• Attended the MNGFOA Conference last week, theme was leadership and teamwork 

 
J. Nash 

• Looking to set-up a tour of the round-a-bouts, council consensus to have on October 27 at 3:00 
pm at City Hall 

• LMC is having their annual tours to cities, coming to Delano on October 12th at 9:00 am 
Kauffman 

• Attended the Wright County Mayor Dinner last week, THC edibles was a hot topic with most 
cities having a moratorium 



 
 
Adjournment 
MOTION by Hallstein to adjourn at 8:38 p.m., seconded by Dierberger. Motion carried unanimously. 
        

APPROVED BY: 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Chris Kauffman, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
        
___________________________________ 
Jennifer Nash, City Administrator 


